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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
WESTERN DISTRICT OF WASHINGTON
AT TACOMA

TITUS DION PETERSON, CASE NO. C165160 BHS

CR11-5566-BHS
Petitioner,

V.

ORDER DENYING PETITION
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

Respondent.

This matter comes before the Court on Titus Dion Peterson’s (“Petitioner”) 2
U.S.C. 8§ 2255 petition. Dkt. 1. Also before the Court is the Government’s unoppos
motion to seal. Dkt. 11. The Court has considered the pleadings filed in support of
opposition to the petition and the remainder of the file and hereby denies the petiti
the reasons stated herein.

I. BACKGROUND

On November 2, 2011, the United States of America (the “Government”) arr

Petitioner on charges of various drug trafficking and firearms offenses. CR11-5566

1-3. On December 9, 2011, Peterson was arraigned on an indidomdbkt. 29. On
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September 13, 2012, Peterson wasigned ora superseding indictment on the
following eight counts:

Count 1. Conspiracy to Distribute Cocaine Base in violation of 21 U.S.C.
88 841(a)(1) and 846;

Counts 2 and 3: Possession of Cocaine Base with Intent to Distribute, in
violation of 21 U.S.C. § 841(a)(1) and 841(b)(1)(C), and 18 U.S.C. § 2;

Count 4: Possession of Cocaine Base with Intent to Distribute, in violation
of 21 U.S.C. 88 841(a)(1) and 841(b)(1)(B), and 18 U.S.C. 8 2;

Count 5: Possession of Cocaine Base with Intent to Distribute, in violation
of 21 U.S.C. 88 841(a)(1) and 841(b)(1)(C);

Count 6: Possession of a Firearm in Furtherance of Drug Trafficking in
violation of 18 U.S.C. § 924(c)(1)(A);

Count 7: Felon in Possession of a Firearm in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 922
(9)(1) and 924 (e)(1); and

Count 8: Witness Tampering, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1512 (b)(1) and
1512 (b)(3).

Id., Dkts. 112, 128.

On September 7, 2012, Petitioner’s counsel filed three suppression miations
Dkts. 116-118. On September 21, 2012, the Court considered all three motions in
combined hearing, Petitioner waived his right to testify, and the Court denied the
motions.Id., Dkt. 143. At that hearing, the Court also conductédrattainquiry
regarding Petitioner’s statements that he wished to prqueesk but Petitioner stated
that he wished to remain representddDkt. 192. The same day, the Government filg
enhanced penalty informatiolal., Dkt. 145.

On September 24, 2012, after numerous appointments and withdrawals of g

Petitioner moved to procegulo se Id., Dkt. 146. On September 25, 2012 Court
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allowed Petitioner to procequto seafter he assaulted his counsel and his counsel m
to withdraw; but the Court still appointed Petitioner’s seventh and final counsel as

standby counsel for the bench trial., Dkts. 150.

oved

On October 3, 2012, Petitioner’s bench trial began and Petitioner filed another

suppression motion and moved for reconsideration on the previously denied suppf
motions.ld., Dkts. 156—-161. The Court denied Petitioner’s suppression motion and
motions for reconsideratioid., Dkt. 161. Petitioner’s stepfather, Dennis Perkins,
previously pled guilty and testified as a witness for the GovernntenbDkt. 162. On
October 5, 2012, the trial ended and Petitioner was convicted on all eight ¢oum&t.
163.

On June 3, 2016, the Court sentenced Petitioner to a total of 240 months of

incarceration followed by eight years supervised relddseDkts. 209, 210. Petitioner’s

sentence included a mandatory minimum of 180 months pursuant to thd Sareer
Criminal Act (“ACCA”), 18 U.S.C. 88 922(g)(1) and 924(e)(D)., Dkt. 210 at 2.
Petitioner’'s sentence also included a mangatonsecutive minimum sentence of 60
months pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 924(c)(d).

On June 3, 2016, Petitioner appealed his conviction on the basis that the Cd
unlawfully denied his suppression motidd., Dkt. 211. On December 11, 2014, the
Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit affirmed this Court’s decision to deny suppre
Id., Dkt. 229.

On February 29, 2016, Petitioner filed the present 28 U.S.C. § 2255 petition

ession
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vacate, set aside, or correct his sentebke. 1.
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II. DISCUSSION

A. Ground One

Petitioner argues in his first ground for relief that his total 240-month senten
incorrect. Specifically, he argues that (1) his sentence should be reduced pursuan{
Johnsonand (2) the Court erred at sentencing when setting forth the applicable rat
under the sentencing guidelines.

1. Johnson Argument

Petitioner’s invocation alohnson v. United Statek35 S. Ct. 2551 (2015), and
Welch v. United State$36 S. Ct. 1257 (2016), does not qualify him for resentencing
While Petitioner’s prior convictions for Assault, Attempted Eluding, and Robbery m
no longer qualify as predicate violent offenses under the residual clause of the AC
has nonetheless been convicted of three predicate drug trafficking offenses. Dkt. 1
Accordingly,Johnsondoes not entitle Petitioner to a new sentencing.

The Court notes that the predicate trafficking offense from 1996 was absent

ce IS
to

nge

ay
CA, he

2.

from

the 21 U.S.C. § 851 enhancement information filed by the Government prior to tria]. That

previous conviction was not presented to the Court until the presentencing report.
Nonetheless, it asappropriate for the Court tionsider Petitioner'secidivism for the
purposes of the ACCA enhancement at sentencing, including his 1996 drug trafficl
conviction, althouglt wasnot presented at trigdAlmendarez-Torres v. United States
523 U.S. 224, 247 (1998) (holding that, in the context of sentence enhancements,
recidivism need not be treated as an element of an offaeseglso United States v.

Covian-Sandoval62 F.3d 1090, 1097 (9th Cir. 2006) (“The fact of a prior convictig

King
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theonly fact that both increases a penalty beyond the statutory maximum and can
found by a sentencing colijt. In light of Petitioner’s three predicate drug trafficking
offenses, imposing a sentence under the ACCA was not in error.

2. Guidelines Calculation

Petitioner argues that his 240-month sentence is in error because “[tjhe Coy
sentencing calculation totaled 25 and level 6 . . . which puts [him] in the sentencing
of 110-137 months.” Dkt. 1 at 4. However, this argument fails to account for the
application otthe ACCA or 18 U.S.C. § 924(c). Under the ACCA and § 924(c),
Petitioner received no more than the mandatory consecutive minimum sentences.
total sentence of 240 montastually fellbelow the sentencing range set forth in USS
4B1.1(c)(3), applicable to Petitioner, of 360 months to life. Additionally, the Court
explained its downward departure at sentencing by stating that the mandatory min
was a sufficient sentence, but no longer than necessary, to achieve the purpose of

imposing incarceratiorbeeCR 11-5566, Dkt. 219 at 31-32. This explanation was

adequate under the law. 18 U.S.C. 3553(ajted States v. Bookeb43 U.S. 220 (2005).

Accordingly, the Court finds it did not err in the guidelines calculation used at
sentencing.

B. Ground Two

In his second ground, Petitioner claims several due process deprivations. Pg¢
argues that (1) he was deprived of adequate time to enter a proposed plea agreen

the State of Washington, (2) the Government lacked probable cause to search for
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recovered from Dennis Perkins®rage unjtand (3) the Government failed to disclos
the failed drug tests of a key witness, Dennis Perkins.

1. Cancelled Plea Bargain Offer

According to Petitioner, the Government deprived him of the opportunity to &

a plea agreement with the State of Washington by “threatening” him on October 26

2011, that if he didn’t “take the state deal by Oct. 28, 2011 a federal warrant would
issued.” Dkt. 1 at 5. Petitioner contends that he had verbally accepted the state de
was scheduled to enter a plea on October 31, 2001, but the federal warrant was is|
October 28, 2001, wrongfully deprividgm of the opportunity to enter the state plea
agreementid.

First,the Courtnotes that W.D. Wash. Local Rules CrR 11(c)(1) provides:
“Without court approval, plea agreements in felony cases shall be in writing and si
by the defendant, the defendant’s attorney and the attorney for the government.
Accordingly, Plaintiff's allegedierbalacceptance of a plea agreement offered by
Washington State doestrsuggest the existencéaplea agreement that would have
beenenforceable before this Court on Plaintiff's federal charges.

Moreover, Plaintiffprovides no authority, and the Court can find none, to sug
that a defendant has a right to specific performance of a plea agreement that was
formally accepted or entered. To the contyéing Supreme Court has ev&ated that,
depending on the applicable jurisdiction’s law, “it appears the prosecution has son

discretion to cancel a plea agreement to which the defendant has alylissduiri v.

e

\ccept
D,
be
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gest

never

e

Frye, 132 S. Ct. 1399, 1410 (2012).
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Washington law states that that the prosecutorial standards in plea agreeme
negotiations set forth in RCW 9.94A “are not intended to, do not and may not be rq
upon to create a right or benefit, substantive or procedural, enforceable at law.” R(
9.94A.401. Accordingly, the Court finds that Petitioner cannot assert a substantive
to enforce a state plea negotiation that never resulted in a formal agreement apprd
a state court pursuaRICW 9.94A.431.

Petitioner does have a right to effective assistance of counsel during plea
negotiations, but Petitioner does not argue that his counsel was ineffective for failif
formalize and enter a plea agreement in state court prior to October 28, 2011. Eve
Petitioner haghursued such an argument, it would fail. While the federal complaint
sworn out on October 28, 2011, Petitioner was not arrested until November 2, 201
CR11-5566, Dkts. 1, 9. Petitioner alleges that he was scheduled to enter a plea
agreement on October 31, 2011. Dkt. 1 at 5. Under such circumstances, Petitionel
show that the federal complaint filed on October 28, 2011, prejudiced his ability to
the state plea agreentas allegedly scheduled on October 31, 2011.

2. Probable Causefor the Search Warrant

Petitioner alleges that the Government lacked probable cause to search for
guns that were found in a storage unit registered to Dennis Perkins because “there
evidence submitted that guns existed . . . in the [warrant] affidavit. Allegations of d
in itself is not enough.” Dkt. 1 at 5.

The fact that law enforcement were lawfully searching for drugs when they

discovered the firearms does not mean that Petitioner can suppress the firearms.
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law enforcement discovers firearms while conducting a lawful search, and the

incriminating nature of the firearms is readily apparent due to previous drug traffick

convictions,‘the seizure of the firearms [i]s justified under the plain view doctrine.”
United States v. Tatd@33 F. App’x 447, 448 (9th Cir. 2005) (cititipited States v.
Ewain 88 F.3d 689, 693 (9th Cir. 1996)).

As the Court found in the suppression hearing on September 25s2eCR11-
5566, Dkt. 192t 135-40, and again on Petitioner's motion for reconsiderasiead.,
Dkt. 197 at 123-24, the warrant to search the storage facility was based on probal
cause. This ruling was affirmed on appéadl, Dkt. 229. Because law enforcement
lawfully accessethe firearms while executing a valid search warrant and the
incriminating nature of the guns was immediately apparent, the seizure of the gung
justified.

3. Drug Tests of Government Witness

Petitioner argues that the Government wrongfully withheld information show
that a Government withess—Dennis Perkins, Petitioner’'s codefendant—failed two
tests while on bond. Dkt. 1 at®&-To establish &radyviolation in contravention of his
due process rights, Petitioner must show: (1) the Government suppressed evideng
the evidence was exculpatory or impeachment evidence favorable to the defendar
(3) the nondisclosure prejudiced the defe@sn v. Lamber283 F.3d 1040, 1052-53
(9th Cir. 2002).

Petitioner cannot show that the evidence was suppressed or that the allegec

nondisclosure would have prejudiced his defense. The pretrial petition and order fq
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warrant, CR11-5566, Dkt. 65, filed in Petitioner’s case on April 6, 2012, described
Perkins’s violation of his bond conditions. This information was further described in
subsequent docket entriég., Dkts. 67, 68. “[T]here is no authority for the propositiof
that the governmentBrady obligations requirét to point the defense to specific
documents with[in] a larger mass of material that it has already turned Owited
States v. Mulderigl20 F.3d 534, 541 (5th Cir. 199¢)}ted byRhoades v. Henr38
F.3d 1027, 1055 n.12 (9th Cir. 2011).

Moreover, even if the Government had not revealedDkahis Perkiniad
violated his bond conditionthe witness continued use and addiction to narcotics wj
otherwise made known to Petitioner and highlighted at tdglDkt. 198 at 86, 91, 104.
Also, Perkins’s drug use was clearly known to Petitioner bed2egmner was
supplying Perias with drugsld., Dkt. 198 at 104. Petitioner cannot show that there
a suppression in violation &rady because he “had all the salient facts regarding the
existence of the [evidence] that he claims [was] withhdRthdéades v. Henyy38 F.3d
1027, 1039 (9th Cir. 2011) (quotation omitted). Because Petitioner can show neith
suppression nor prejudice, his argument fails.

C. Ground Three

In ground three, Petitioner argues that the Court erred lde(i)ing his motion
for reconsideration regarding suppression of evidence obtained from the storage u
finding that the warrant to search the storage unit was based on probable cause, 3
finding that the “good faith exception” would apply to any misstatements in the war

affidavit.

the
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Petitioner has not raised any issue that was not addressed at his pretrial

suppression hearing or affirmed on appeal. While Petitioner attempts to frame his

arguments as separate “procedural errors,” each argument is defeated by a finding that the

warrant to search the storage unit was supported by probable cause. As addresse
the warrant to search the storage facility was based on probable SaeG&11-5566,
Dkt. 192 at 13540; Id., Dkt. 197 at 123—-24. The Court of Appeals affirmed this findi
Id., Dkt. 229. Accordingly, Petitioner's arguments f&éeUnited States v. Currje&s89
F.2d 993, 995 (9th Cir. 1979) (“Issues disposed of on a previous direct appeal are
reviewable in a subsequent § 2255 proceeding . . . that the issue may be stated in
terms is of no significance.”) (internal citations omitted).

D. Ground Four

In ground four, Petitioner argues that he was deprived of constitutional rights

d above,

not

different

1>

when the Government allegedly (1) failed to turn over the audio recording of a March 9,

2010 interview of informant A.S. with police, (2) failed to disclose the benefits Den
Perkins and informant A.S. gained by testifying against Petitioner or revealing
information about himand (3) allowed Dennis Perkins to testify falsely about his
involvement with Petitioner’s drug trafficking.

As stated above Bradyviolation requires that (1) the Government suppresse
evidence, (2) the evidence was exculpatory or impeachment evidence favorable tg
defendant, and (3) the nondisclosure prejudiced the defeess.283 F.3d at 1052-53

However:
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There is ndBrady violation where a defendant knew or should have known
the essential facts permitting him to take advantage of any exculpatory
information, or where the evidence is available from another source,
because in such cases there is really nothing for the government to disclose|.

Coe v. Bell 161 F.3d 320, 344 (6th Cir. 1998) (internal edits and quotations ombes]).

alsoRhoades638 F.3d at 1039 (no suppression uriBlady when defendant “had all the
salient facts regarding the existence of the [evidence] that he claims [was] withheld.”).

Here, all of the information that Petitioner argues was wrongfully suppressed was

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

provided to Petitioner’'s defense. Petitioner argues that he did not receive an audio

recording of théaw enforcemeninterview of informant A.S., whee statement

connected Petitioner’s drug trafficking to Dennis Perkins’s storage unit for the purgoses

of the warrant affidavit. Dkt. 1 at 8. However, it appears that Petitioner’s defense was

indeed provided the tape recorded statement. CR11-5566, Dkt. 190 at 7. Moreovey, at the

very least, the full content of that interview was provided to Petitioner and his defepse in

the form ofawritten transcriptld., Dkt. 192 at 19-21.

Petitioner also claims that the Government suppressed information regarding the

benefits that its informant and witness received for testifying against him. Dkt. 1 at|8.
However, the Government provided Petitioner with a copy of DennisrBé&shklea
agreement. CR11-5566, Dkt. 192 at 8-11. Also, in addition to providing Petitioner with
Brady material regarding informant A.S., including his plea agreerseatid, Dkt. 190
at 6—7, 10-11, the warrant affidavit sufficiently set out that the informant was

cooperating witHaw enforcement in hopes of receiving a reduced sentence in his gwn

prosecutionld., Dkt. 192 at 137-38.
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Petitioner also contends that the Government knowingly allowed Dennis Petkins

to testify falsely about the timing of his involvement with Petitioner’s drug trafficking

activities in violation oNapue v. lllinois 360 U.S. 264, 269-70 (1959). However,
Petitioner makes no specific allegations to support this contention. Where there ar
allegations oprosecutorial misuse of false testimony, “[t]o earn the right to an

evidentiary hearing, a movant is required to allege specific facts which, if true, wou

entitle him to relief.”United States v. Zuno-Arc25 F. Supp. 2d 1087, 1118 (C.D. Cal|

1998),aff'd, 209 F.3d 1095 (9th Cir. 200@nd aff'd in part, appeal denied in paBg39
F.3d 886 (9th Cir. 2003) (citingones v. WoqdL14 F.3d 1002, 1008 (9th Cir. 1997);
Rule 4(b) of the Rules Governing Section 2255 Proceedings). Petitioner has failed
describe with any specificity either (1) the testimony of Dennis Perkins that he clait
was false or (2) facts whereby the Court could draw an inference that the Governn
knew of such falsityAccordingly, Petitioner's\Napueargument fails.

E. Grounds Five and Six

D

d

to

ns

nent

In Ground Five, Petitioner again argues that the search warrant for the storage unit

was invalid. In Ground Six, Petitioner argues that he was denied effective assistance of

counsel becaudas counse(1) failed to prove that the Government was lying in orde
establish probable cause for the search warrant; (2) failed to file his “offer of proof’
regarding the veracity of interview notes supporting the warrant; (3) untimely filed 3
additional “offer of proof” regarding a different March 9, 2010 interview that would
allegedly disprove the veracity of information supporting the warrant; (4) failed to

compel discovery of the audio for the March 9, 2010 interview; (5) failed to show tk

rto
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good faith exception did not apply to the warrant; (6) relied on the transcribed vers
the March 9, 2010 interview rather than the actual audio; and (7) relied on facts co
in the warrant affidavit when drafting suppression motions rather than arguing that
affidavit was based on inaccurate information. In sum, Petitioner arguéisal@durt
wrongly found that the search warrant was valid and that his attorneys were ineffe
for failing to use an audio recording of the March 9, 2010 interview to prove otherw

The Court has already addressed whetiermvarrant was based upon probable
cause. As found at Petitioner’s pretrial suppression hearing and as affirmed on ap|
search warrant for the storage unit was based on probable Sae€&11-5566, Dkt.
192 at 135-40id., Dkt. 197 at 123-24d., Dkt. 229. Also, Petitioner’s allegation that
his counsel relied upon a written transcript rather than an actual audio recording df
state any objectively deficient performance that could constitute ineffective assista
counsel. Accordingly, the Court finds no error on Petitioner’s fifth and sixth ground

[11. ORDER

Therefore, it is hereb@ RDERED that the petition to vacate, set aside, or cori
sentence pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2255 (Dkt. DEBIIED. The Government’s motion
seal (Dkt. 11) iSSRANTED.

Datedthis 6thday ofDecember, 2016.

L

BE\NJJAMIN H. SETTLE
United States District Judge
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